UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FIFTH O RCU T

No. 95-40488
(Summary Cal endar)

DAVI D M JORDAN,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,
vVer sus
CRANT JONES, District Attorney,
Def endant
and

CARLOS VALDEZ, District Attorney; NUECES COUNTY;
KLEBERG COUNTY,

Def endant s- Appel | ees.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of Texas
(G 94-Cv- 38)

May 8, 1996
Before Hl GG NBOTHAM DUHE, and EMLIO M GARZA, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *
David M Jordan appeals the district court's judgnment in the
defendants' favor in his suit alleging a violation of the Veteran's

Reenpl oynent Ri ghts Act ("VRRA" or "the Act"), 38 U S.C. 8§ 4301 et

Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on should not be published and is not precedent except under the linmted
circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



seq. W affirmthe district court's judgnent, but we vacate the
district court's award of costs agai nst Jordan.
I

Jordan was a reserve officer called to active duty for
Operation Desert Storm After he was honorably di scharged fromthe
Armed Forces, Jordan returned to Corpus Christi, Texas to resune
his former position as an assistant district attorney of the 105th
Judicial District of the State of Texas. The district attorney,
Grant Jones, refused to reinstate Jordan because Jones's staff had
di scovered very explicit sexual material throughout Jordan's office
whi | e Jordan had been on active duty.

The sexually explicit materials, which the district court

descri bed as "base snut,"” had been mailed directly to the Kl eberg
County District Attorney's official post office box and was
addressed to Jordan.! Jordan had been receiving these material s at
the office before he left for Desert Storm and they continued to
arrive after he left. Two secretaries enployed by Kleberg County
di scovered the materials when they were clearing Jordan's officeto
permt a substitute assistant district attorney to use Jordan's
office and handle his case |load while he was on duty. Jones

deci ded that Jordan's conduct was cause for term nati on because he

believed Jordan's reading materials could subject the district

1 Jordan admtted at trial that he had a stack two-foot high of

sexual |y explicit magazi nes, books, and advertisenents, many of which were "nore
sexual |y explicit than Hustler and woul d have been consi dered shocking to many
people.” The district court described the materials which were adnmitted at trial
as depicting oral -genital contact, honpbsexual oral-genital contact, and graphic
pi ctures of heterosexual and honobsexual intercourse.
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attorney's officetoa Title VII hostile work environnent |awsuit.
Jones was al so concerned about the negative inpact such nmaterials
could have on his office's public inmge as an effective and
credible arm of |aw enforcenent. After Jordan rejected Jones's
suggestion that Jordan retire quietly, Jones term nated Jordan

Jordan then filed suit agai nst the defendants for backpay and
reinstatenent alleging a violation of the VRRA After a bench
trial, the district court entered judgnent for the defendants and
awar ded them costs. On appeal, Jordan argues that the district
court erred (1) by finding that the VRRA did not require Kleberg
County to automatically reinstate him (2) by finding that Kleberg
County had | egal |y adequate cause to termnate him (2) by finding
t hat Nueces County was not Jordan's enployer; and (3) by awarding
costs to the defendants.

I

The VRRA provides that a person who |eaves a permanent
enpl oynent position with a State to performtraining and service in
the Arned Forces of the United States shall be restored to his
former or a simlar position if he is still qualified to perform
the duties of the position, and he follows certain statutory
requi renents.? 38 US.C 8§ 4301(a)(2)(B)(I). Section
4301(b) (1) (A) provides that veterans who have been restored to

their former positions cannot be discharged for one year after

2 The Act requires that the returning veteran receive a certificate
denonstrating satisfactory conpletion of mlitary service and nake application
for reenpl oynent within ninety days after he i s discharged. 38 U.S.C. § 4301(a).
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reenpl oynent without cause. 38 U S.C. 8§ 4301(b)(1)(A).

The district court held that Kl eberg County did not violate 38
US C §4301(a)(2)(B) when it refused to reinstate Jordan because
Jordan did not |eave the district attorney's office in good
standing. The district court concluded that since Kleberg County
could have fired Jordan for cause before he left for active
service, 8 4301(a)(2)(B) did not require Kl eberg County to
reinstate Jordan after he returned. Jordan argues that
8§ 4301(a)(2)(B) grants returning veterans a mandatory right of
reinstatenment regardl ess of whether they left their job in good
standing or not. |In the alternative, Jordan contends that even if
he did not have a mandatory right of reinstatenent, he was not on
notice that his conduct was prohi bited; therefore, Kl eberg County
did not have legally sufficient cause to termnate him

"The Veterans' Act was drafted with the intent to shield a
servi ceman fromdi scrimnation by his enployer, not to armhimw th
a sword to puni sh his enpl oyer for sone percei ved wong unconnect ed
to his status." Burkart v. Post-Browning, Inc., 859 F.2d 1245
1250 (6th Gr. 1988). Congress intended the VRRA to protect
veterans and reservists from "di scharge w thout cause" resulting
fromthe veteran or reservist status, not to give enpl oyee veterans
and reservists a preference over other enployees. Monr oe V.
Standard Ol Co., 452 U. S. 549, 560-61, 101 S. C. 2510, 2516-17,
69 L. Ed. 2d 226 (1981) (internal quotations marks omtted).

Jordan argues that Kl eberg County had a mandatory duty under

the VRRA to reinstate him when he returned from active service.
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However, an enpl oyer can termnate or refuse to reinstate a veteran
or reservist once he returns from active service or training, if
t he enpl oyer had legally sufficient cause to term nate the enpl oyee
at the tinme that he left. See Burkart, 859 F.2d at 1248 (hol di ng
that because reservist only gave his enployer fifteen mnutes
notice of his intent to leave for three weeks of training, the
enpl oyer had sufficient cause to refuse to reinstate the reservi st
when he returned fromtraining); Sawer v. Swft & Co., 836 F.2d
1257, 1260-61 (10th Cr. 1988) (holding that enployer properly
term nated reservi st for cause because reservist failed to give his
enpl oyer adequate notice of his intent to |eave for training).
Therefore, we hold that if an enployer has sufficient cause to
termnate an enployee veteran or reservist at the tinme that he
| eaves for active service or training, the VRRA does not require
the enployer to reinstate the enployee before the enployer
term nates himfor cause.

An enpl oyer can termnate a veteran or reservist for cause if
the di scharge satisfies two criteria of reasonabl eness: (1) "that
it is reasonabl e to di scharge enpl oyees because of certain conduct,
and [(2)] that the enployee had fair notice, express or fairly
i nplied, that such conduct would be ground for discharge." Carter
v. United States, 407 F.2d 1238, 1244 (D.C. Cr. 1968). I n
assessi ng the adequacy of an enpl oyee's notice, the ultinmate issue
is "whether the conduct was or should have been known to the
enpl oyee to be prohibited by the enployer." Id. at 1246. This is

a question of fact which we review under the clearly erroneous
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standard. 1d.

Jordan argues that Kl eberg County could not term nate himfor
cause based on his receipt of sexually explicit materials because
he was not on notice that this behavior was prohibited by his
enpl oyer. The trial court specifically found that Jordan knew t hat
if anyone at the district attorney's office discovered his
collection of sexually explicit materials, he would be term nat ed.
The court found that Jordan knew that his actions were not within
those reasonably and ordinarily accepted standards of personal
conduct expected of enployees in a public district attorney's
of fice. The evidence at trial denonstrated that Jordan's boss,
Grant Jones, had a policy against having sexually explicit
materials in the office. Jones testified that he devel oped this
policy after an incident occurred involving the display of a
sexually explicit magazine in one of the offices. The only
evidence to the contrary was Jordan's testinony that he believed he
was allowed to have the materials at the office as |long as they
were not on his desk. Gven the trial court's superior ability to
assess the credibility of the wtnesses, we conclude that the
court's finding that Jordan knew hi s behavi or was prohi bited by his
enpl oyer was not clearly erroneous. Accordingly, the district
court did not err in concluding that Kl eberg County had cause to
term nate Jordan

1]
Jordan next argues that the district court erred in holding

t hat Nueces County was not his enployer and therefore not subject
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to liability under the VRRA Section 4302 entitles an enpl oyee
veteran to file suit against his enployer if the enployer fails to
conply with the VRRA The term "enployer"” in 8§ 4302 should be
broadly construed to include the "one to whomthe veteran provides

services and fromwhom he recei ves wages," as well as those bodies
to whom a veteran's "enployer in the traditional sense, has
del egated certai n aspects of the enploynent rel ationship." Bunnel
v. New Engl and Teansters and Trucki ng I ndus. Pension Fund, 486 F.
Supp. 714 (D. Mass. 1980), aff'd, 655 F.2d 451 (1st Cir. 1981).

The testinony at trial indicated that Jordan received his
salary, vehicle, gas, and the furnishings for his office from
Kl eberg County. Al t hough Jordan accepted ten guilty pleas and
wor ked on two cases for the Nueces County office during his three
year period as assistant district attorney, this amunt of work is
extrenely insignificant in conparisonto the seven to ei ght hundred
cases that Jordan prosecuted for Kleberg County each year. Based
on the foregoi ng evidence, we conclude that the district court did
not err in concluding that Nueces County was not Jordan's enpl oyer.

|V

Finally, Jordan argues that the district court erred in
assessing costs against him Val dez and Kl eberg County concede
that it was error for the court to assess costs against Jordan
Nueces County cites an irrelevant statute, and sinply states that
if the court finds that the award of costs was in error, the error

was harnl ess.

Section 4302 specifically provides:
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| f any enployer, who is a private enployer of a State or
political subdivisionthereof, fails or refuses to conply with
the provisions of [specified sections] of this title, the
[ appropriate] district court of the United States . . . shal
have the power, upon filing of a notion, petition, or other
appropriate pleading by the person entitled to the benefits of
such provisions, specifically to require such enployer to
conply with such provisions and to conpensate such person for
any |loss of wages or benefits suffered by reason of such
enpl oyer's unlawful action. . . . Upon application to the
United States attorney or conparable official . . . by any
person claimng to be entitled to such benefits provided for
in such provisions, such United States attorney or official,
if reasonably satisfied that the person so applying is
entitled to such benefits, shall appear and act as attorney
for such person in the am cabl e adjustnment of the claimor in
the filing of any notion, petition, or other appropriate
pl eadi ng and the prosecution thereof specifically to require
such enployer to conply with such provisions. No fees or
court costs shall be taxed agai nst any person who may apply
for such benefits.

38 U.S.C. § 4302. One court has interpreted the "no fees shall be
taxed" provision as being controlling only when the plaintiff
applies to and is represented by a United States attorney or a
conparabl e official. See Newport v. Mchelin Aircraft Tire Corp.

851 F. Supp. 1406, 1408 (WD. Mb. 1994). Arguably, it is anbi guous
whet her the | anguage "any person who may apply for such benefits”
is neant to refer only to a person who nakes "an application to the
United States attorney or a conparable official,"” not one who
pursues his rights under the VRRA through a private attorney.
However, the |egislative history acconpanying the enactnent of a
subsequent provision of the VRRA, which applies to reenploynents
initiated on or after the first day after the 60-day period
begi nning on Cct. 13, 1994, convinces us that Congress intended
8§ 4302 to prevent any person cl aimng benefits under the VRRA from

bei ng assessed costs. |In describing the new provisions, the Senate
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Report states:

New section 4322(c)(2) would provide that no fees or
court costs could be charged or taxed against any
i ndi vidual pursuing a claimof a violation of his or her
[rights under the VRRA]. If that individual were the
prevailing party, the court could, in its discretion,
award the individual reasonable attorney fees, expert
wtness fees, and other litigation expenses when not
represented by the Attorney General. The prohibition
agai nst charging fees or costs exists in present section
4302. The Committee bill would authorize the award of
attorney fees, expert witness fees, and other litigation
expenses as a further effort to make servi cenenbers whol e
and not have them suffer any loss in realizing their
reenpl oynent rights.

S.Rep. No. 158, 103d Cong., 1st Sess. (1993). Accordi ngly, we
concl ude that Congress intended §8 4302 to prohibit district courts
from awardi ng costs agai nst a person who is pursuing a claimof a
violation of his rights wunder the VRRA irregardless of who
represents him Therefore, we hold that the district court erred
in awardi ng costs for the defendants.
\%

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the judgnent of the

district court in the defendants' favor and VACATE the award of

costs agai nst Jordan.



